FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/31/2019 12:20 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/1/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97503-5

Court of Appeals No. 51055-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JODI BRUGH, an individual,

Respondent,

V.

FUN-TASTIC RIDES CO., an Oregon corporation; MIDWAY RIDES LLC, a Washington limited liability company; JOHN DOE MANUFACTURER, an unknown entity,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Patricia K. Buchanan, WSBA No. 19892 Tim T. Parker, WSBA No. 43674 Nicholas A. Carlson, WSBA No. 48311 Attorneys for Petitioners

PATTERSON BUCHANAN FOBES & LEITCH, INC., P.S.

I. INTRODUCTION

Can a person use his or her preexisting health problems to create an inference of negligence through res ipsa loquitur? The Court of Appeals answered yes.

Fun-Tastic operates a roller coaster. CP 2.1 Three days before riding the roller coaster, Brugh went to her doctor complaining of dizziness and loss of balance. CP 88. According to Brugh's doctor, these symptoms are consistent with the alleged head trauma Brugh subsequently had on the roller coaster. CP 87, 90. Three days after complaining about injuries consistent with head trauma, the alleged injury-causing event occurred. CP 2. Brugh rode the roller coaster and alleges that her head struck the safety harness after a "sudden and violent jolt." CP 105. Subsequently, Brugh rode other rides, attended a rock concert, and drove herself home. CP 106–07. Approximately three weeks later, Brugh was diagnosed with a subdural hematoma and blames the roller coaster. CP 90, 2.

Brugh sued Petitioners for negligence. CP 1. The Court of Appeals concluded that res ipsa loquitur applied based on the severe injury alone. *Slip Op.* 8–9. This Court should accept review and reverse.

¹ Clerk's Papers (CP) are included as Appendix C.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Fun-Tastic Rides Co. and Midway Rides, LLC (Petitioners), seek review of the Court of Appeals' published decision terminating review.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its published opinion on March 26, 2019 (Appendix A). A timely motion for reconsideration was denied on July 2, 2019 (Appendix B).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err by determining that res ipsa loquitur applies to the facts in the record?
- 2. The first element of res ipsa loquitur requires that the accident or occurrence causing injury would not ordinarily happen in the absence of negligence. One condition for meeting this element is that the "general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the *result* would not be expected without negligence." Does "result" mean the injury-causing event or the alleged injury?
- 3. Assuming that "result" means injury, did the Court of Appeals err by using "general experience" to speculate about medical causation rather than require plaintiff to present evidence on the requisite force needed to cause her injury?

4. Did the Court of Appeals err by failing to consider the non-moving party's evidence demonstrating that she had symptoms consistent with head trauma *before* riding the roller coaster?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Petitioners moved for summary judgment to dismiss Brugh's negligence claim on the basis that she had insufficient evidence to establish breach of duty.² CP 21-30. In response, Brugh relied on res ipsa loquitur and submitted an affidavit from her family doctor, Dr. Rachel Gonzalez. CP 66–80, 86-94. Thus, the question became whether Brugh presented sufficient evidence to warrant the application of res ipsa loquitur. After reconsideration, the trial court granted summary judgment, and Brugh appealed. The Court of Appeals reversed.

B. The Court of Appeals' Reasoning

On September 16, 2013, Brugh alleges that she sustained head trauma on Petitioners' roller coaster. CP 1–5. This trauma allegedly occurred when she hit her head on the padded shoulder harness after a "sudden and violent jolt." CP 104–05. Three weeks later, she went to her doctor with symptoms consistent with a brain bleed—a subdural

² Petitioners also moved to dismiss Brugh's other claims, including product liability. All of her claims were dismissed. Brugh only appealed the dismissal of her negligence claim based on res ipsa loquitur.

hematoma. CP 90 ¶ 10. Brugh's doctor characterized the subdural hematoma as a "slow bleed" that often does not manifest in symptoms for several weeks after the alleged traumatic event. CP 90 ¶ 12. Because Brugh reported head trauma on the roller coaster and no subsequent trauma, Dr. Gonzalez concluded that the roller coaster caused the subdural hematoma. CP 88–90 ¶¶ 9–10, 13.

The Court of Appeals recognized that people may receive minor bumps on the head against the safety harness without negligence. *Slip Op.*8. But the court held that "general experience" teaches subdural hematomas do not result from minor head trauma. *See id.* at 8–9. Thus, Brugh's alleged injury by itself created an inference that Petitioners were negligent. *Id.* The record, however, contains no evidence regarding the amount of force—minor or something greater—needed to cause a slow bleed subdural hematoma. In other words, the court concluded on its own that something greater than a minor head trauma is needed.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals premised its decision on the erroneous belief that Petitioners agreed the roller coaster caused Brugh's subdural hematoma because Petitioners moved on breach of duty, not causation. *Slip Op.* 3–4. This premise ignores the procedural posture above, which required the Court of Appeals to assess whether Brugh presented sufficient evidence to warrant res ipsa loquitur. To the extent

that the plaintiff's own evidence raises questions about how the injury occurred, res ipsa loquitur is unwarranted. Slip Op. 3.3

C. Relevant Facts Ignored by the Court of Appeals

i. Did Brugh have preexisting trauma?

In her affidavit, which the Court of Appeals relied on, Dr. Gonzalez listed symptoms that were allegedly caused by head trauma on the roller coaster.⁴ CP 87 ¶ 5. Among these symptoms, she identifies "dizziness" and "balance disturbance." *Id.* She states that "at no time prior" to the roller coaster event did Brugh report these symptoms. *Id.* (emphasis added). Then she contradicts herself.

According to Dr. Gonzalez, three days before the alleged injury-causing event on the roller coaster, Brugh complained of "constant bilateral ear pain, dizziness, fullness in her ears, hearing deficits, and loss of balance." CP 88 ¶ 9. Brugh is also diabetic. CP 87 ¶ 4.

The Court of Appeals omits these facts and fails to explain how it found res ipsa loquitur under these circumstances—when Brugh's own evidence shows that she was experiencing symptoms consistent with head trauma *before* riding the roller coaster. Furthermore, Brugh's doctor says

³ Citing to the rule for res ipsa loquitur, which requires that the defendant's instrumentality cause the injury. The plaintiff has the burden to establish this element by sufficient evidence. *See Slip Op.* 3.

⁴ Inferentially, because Dr. Gonzalez concludes the head trauma caused Brugh's subdural hematoma, these are symptoms consistent with a subdural hematoma.

that it can take weeks after a traumatic event for a slow bleed hematoma to manifest with symptoms, raising a significant question about when the hematoma began. CP 90 \P 12. Brugh, the non-moving party, raised these facts, yet the Court of Appeals failed to consider them. See Slip Op.

ii. Did Brugh suffer trauma after the roller coaster?

Additionally, after allegedly sustaining "severe" head trauma on the roller coaster, Brugh rode other rides, attended a rock concert, and drove home. CP 106–107. The Court of Appeals omitted these facts.

D. Injury from Preexisting Conditions

The opinion references that Brugh lost hearing⁵ in her right ear after hitting her head. *Slip Op.* 2. The next day, she saw her doctor and was bleeding from the ears. *Id.* Dr. Gonzalez, however, connected these issues to preexisting conditions, disconnecting them from alleged trauma on the roller coaster and the subdural hematoma. CP 88–90 ¶¶ 9, 13. The court's reasoning did not rely on these injuries. *See Slip. Op.* 8–9.

 $^{^5}$ Three days before, Brugh complained to her doctor about "hearing deficits" and "fullness in her ears." CP $88\,\P\,9$

⁶ Petitioners bring these facts to the Court's attention out of an abundance of caution. Without considering her preexisting conditions, a layperson might speculate about what caused the hearing loss and bleeding from the ears. However, Brugh's own evidence connects these injuries to preexisting issues and disconnects them from the alleged head trauma—thus, these injuries cannot create an inference of negligence. CP 88−90 ¶ 9. Further, the Court of Appeals did not rely on these injuries in its analysis. *Slip Op.* 8−9.

VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals' decision interpreting "result" as the injury, rather than the act or event or occurrence, conflicts with numerous decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2).

Whether res ipsa loquitur applies in a given case is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003). To establish a prima facie case, plaintiff must satisfy the following elements: (1) the accident or occurrence producing the injury is of a kind which ordinarily does not happen in the absence of someone's negligence; (2) the injuries are caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant; and (3) the injury-causing accident or occurrence is not due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff. *Zukowsky v. Brown*, 79 Wn.2d 586, 593, 488 P.2d 269 (1971). The first element can be established by one of three conditions:

(1) When the act causing the injury is so palpably negligent that it may be inferred as a matter of law, *i.e.*, leaving foreign objects, sponges, scissors, etc., in the body, or amputation of a wrong member; (2) when the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the result would not be expected without negligence; and (3) when proof by experts in an esoteric field creates an inference that negligence caused the injuries.

Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist., 191 Wn.2d 79, 90, 419 P.3d 819 (2018) (quotations and citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals relied on the second condition—general experience—and held that "result" can mean injury alone. *Slip Op.* 5, 7.7 Thus, the court relied on the seriousness of Brugh's injury—a slow bleed subdural hematoma that allegedly did not manifest for three weeks—to determine that negligence must have occurred. *See id.* at 7–9. This analysis conflicts with numerous decisions from the Court of Appeals and this Court that have focused the result analysis on the injury-producing event, not the injury.

Applying this element in *Curtis*, this Court said, "[G]eneral experience tells us that *wooden docks ordinarily do not give way* if properly maintained." *Curtis v. Lein*, 169 Wn.2d 884, 894, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010) (emphasis added).⁸ It did *not* say, "Hairline fractures to tibias do not ordinarily occur while walking on docks." *See id.* at 888.

Applying this element in *Pacheco*, this Court said, "[I]t is within the general experience of mankind that *the act of drilling* on the wrong side of a patient's jaw would not ordinarily take place without negligence." 149 Wn.2d at 439 (emphasis added). It did not say, "Nerve

⁷ "The issue here then is whether the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that a subdural hematoma would not be expected from riding a roller coaster without negligence." *Slip Op.* 7.

⁸ This Court also said, "As noted, res ipsa loquitur applies where the injury-producing event is of a type that would not ordinarily occur absent negligence" *Curtis*, 169 Wn.2d at 893.

damage does not ordinarily result from dental procedures absent negligence." *See id.* at 434 (describing injury).

Applying this element in *Zukowsky*, this Court said, "In the general experience of mankind, *the collapse of a seat is an event* that would not be expected without negligence on someone's part." *Zukowsky*, 79 Wn.2d at 596. (emphasis added). It did not say, "Injuries do not ordinarily result from sitting in non-swivel seats absent negligence." *See id.* at 588.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals has focused on "result" as the injury-producing event. In *Miller v. Kennedy*, Division I held: "It cannot be said from the vantage point of an unskilled person that *the insertion of a biopsy needle* into the calyceal area . . . [from] the general experience of most people indicates this would not have happened without negligence." 11 Wn. App. 272, 278, 552 P.2d 852 (1974) (emphasis added). It did not focus on the injury—the loss of a kidney following a biopsy. *See id.* at 275.

Applying this element in *Robison*, Division II said, "[I]ndividuals ordinarily do not suffer *severe electrical shocks* unless someone has been negligent." *Robison v. Cascade Hardwoods, Inc.*, 117 Wn. App. 552, 567, 72 P.3d 244 (2003) (emphasis added). The court focused the analysis on the what caused the injuries, not the injuries themselves. *See id.* at 566 ("Three medical experts concluded that electrical shock caused his severe

injuries⁹ and medical symptoms "). The Court of Appeals in this case relied on *Robison*, characterizing the electrical shock as the injury, though it was actually the injury-producing event. *See Slip Op.* 6–7.

As Division II recognized in this case, Washington courts have apparently not applied "result" to mean injury except in limited medical malpractice cases. ¹⁰ See Slip Op. 6 (citing ZeBarth¹¹). Thus, this decision warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2). Not only does it conflict with the analysis of multiple decisions, *supra*, the facts provide an excellent opportunity to analyze whether injury as "result" applies outside of the medical malpractice context or at all. Even in recent res ipsa loquitur medical malpractice decisions, this Court's analysis has focused on the event, not the injury. ¹² See, e.g., Reyes, 191 Wn.2d at 90 (analyzing

⁹ The plaintiff suffered severe internal electrical burns. *Robison*, 117 Wn. App. at 566.

¹⁰ See, e.g., Douglas v. Bussabarger, 73 Wn.2d 476, 482, 483 P.2d 829 (1968) (harmful result of paralysis would not ordinarily result from stomach ulcer surgery). But see Miller v. Kennedy, supra.

¹¹ ZeBarth was an esoteric experts case (the third condition to fulfill the first res ipsa element). ZeBarth v. Swedish Hosp. Med. Ctr., 81 Wn.2d 12, 19–20, 499 P.2d 1 (1972). The discussion regarding injury as the "result" was dicta. See id. In ZeBarth, the plaintiff suffered paralysis after receiving radiation treatment for cancer. Id. at 14–15. The evidence showed that the plaintiff had irradiation myelitis—paralysis caused by radiation. Id. The plaintiff had evidence from medical experts that paralysis does not result from radiation treatment without negligence. Id. at 19–20.

¹² Applying "result" to mean injury can make sense in the medical malpractice context. See, e.g., Horner v. Northern Pac. Beneficial Ass'n Hospitals, Inc., 62 Wn.2d 351, 359–60, 382 P.2d 518 (1963). In effect, when a patient submits to medical personnel for a procedure, the patient is an instrumentality under the defendants' care and custody. Young v. Webster, 9 Wn. App. 87, 94, 510 P.2d 1182 (1973). An unusual injury from a procedure indicates that the patient was handled negligently. See id.

"general experience" as the "act of prescribing isoniazid" rather than the resulting injury—liver failure and death); *Pacheco*, *supra*.

2. The Court of Appeals' failure to consider the full context, manner, and circumstances of the alleged injury conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2).

Res ipsa loquitur requires the Court to look at the full context, manner, and circumstances of the alleged injury to determine if they are of a kind that do not ordinarily happen in the absence of negligence. *E.g., Robison*, 117 Wn. App. at 565; *Zukowsky*, 79 Wn.2d at 594–95 (1971).

Here, the Court of Appeals ignored relevant circumstances and context surrounding the alleged injury. First, it ignored Brugh's own evidence demonstrating that she had symptoms consistent with head trauma *before* riding the roller coaster. CP 87–88 ¶¶ 5, 9. This evidence was submitted by the nonmoving party—Brugh—and therefore must be accepted as true. *State ex rel. Bond v. State*, 62 Wn.2d 487, 491, 383 P.2d 288 (1963).

Second, setting aside the subdural hematoma that allegedly did not appear until three weeks later, the court ignored that *no indicia exists* demonstrating that Brugh sustained severe head trauma, as opposed to a

Furthermore, the defendants—medical professionals—are in the best position to explain the procedure and medical causation for the injury. *See Horner*, 62 Wn.2d at 360.

minor bump.¹³ For example, the evidence does not show: loss of consciousness, external bruising in the alleged impact area, emergency transport to the hospital, or slurred speech. The uncontradicted facts show: after riding the roller coaster, Brugh rode other rides, attended a rock concert, and drove herself home—facts the court omitted from its opinion. CP 106-107; *see Slip Op.* 1–2. These facts suggest other potential traumas and undermine that a "severe" head trauma occurred.

Third, the court failed to consider the requisite force needed to cause a slow bleed subdural hematoma in a diabetic patient with Brugh's medical history and preexisting conditions. When medical knowledge is necessary, courts have declined to substitute their "general experience" for expert knowledge. *See, e.g., Reyes*, 191 Wn.2d at 90; *Miller*, 11 Wn. App. at 278. A slow bleed subdural hematoma that allegedly presented three weeks after riding the roller coaster cannot alone support that Brugh sustained severe, rather than mild, head trauma. To understand the severity of trauma would require esoteric medical knowledge—knowledge about the requisite force to cause a slow bleed subdural hematoma. Brugh presented no evidence regarding the requisite force. When the *Brugh*

¹³ The court recognized that minor head trauma can occur on roller coasters without negligence. *See Slip Op.* 8.

¹⁴ The evidence equally suggests that Brugh's slow bleed subdural hematoma began *before* riding the roller coaster, suggesting this is not the type of occurrence that happens only through Petitioners' negligence.

court relied on "general experience" to conclude severe head trauma was necessary, it necessarily concluded the following are common knowledge:

- A diabetic with ongoing complaints of "constant bilateral ear pain, dizziness, fullness in her ears, hearing deficits, and loss of balance" is not susceptible to sustaining a subdural hematoma from a "minor bump." (See CP 88 ¶ 9).
- A slow bleed subdural hematoma that first presents itself through symptoms three weeks after head trauma indicates that the trauma was severe, not minor.
- Minor head trauma cannot cause a slow bleed subdural hematoma.
- Only severe trauma, something greater than a minor bump on the head, can cause a subdural hematoma.
- Severe head trauma occurs without any contemporaneous external indicia of severe head trauma.

Most if not all of these conclusions require medical opinion. General experience cannot answer the following question. What does an onset of subdural hematoma symptoms three weeks after the trauma indicate about the trauma's severity? Contrary to the Court's conclusion, no evidence in the record supports that a delayed onset of symptoms indicates severe head trauma.¹⁵

Indeed, Dr. Gonzalez does not opine about the requisite force

¹⁵ Contrary to Division II's reasoning, the delayed onset of symptoms suggests relatively minor trauma. An obvious example demonstrates that a correlation likely exists between the trauma's severity and the temporal onset of symptoms. It cannot seriously be disputed that the most severe head trauma will result in instant death or immediate symptoms. Thus, delayed onset suggests something relatively minor.

needed to cause a slow bleed subdural hematoma in a diabetic patient with Brugh's medical history and preexisting conditions. Her affidavit simply refers to head trauma, not to the trauma's severity. See CP 86–91. But as the Court of Appeals recognized, minor head trauma occurs on roller coasters without negligence. Slip. Op. 8. The Court should accept review and determine if the Court of Appeals erred by ignoring the full context of the injury and by relying on its "general experience" to speculate about medical causation.

3. The Court of Appeals erred by relying on the rareness of the injury, conflicting with numerous decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

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