FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/9/2019 1:12 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97503-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JODI BRUGH, an individual,

Respondent,

v.

FUN-TASTIC RIDES CO., an Oregon corporation; MIDWAY RIDES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners,

and

JOHN DOE MANUFACTURER, an unknown entity,

Defendant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Anne K. Schroeder, WSBA #47952
William C. Schroeder, WSBA #41986

KSB LITIGATION, P.S.

221 N. Wall St., ste 210
Spokane, Washington, 99201
(509) 624-8988

WCS@KSBLit.legal
aschroeder@KSBLit.legal
Attorneys for Appellants

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review - CR 56.

"On review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court." *Johnson v. Lake Cushman Maint. Co.*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 765, 780, 425 P.3d 560 (2018) (quoting RAP 9.12).

An argument that was neither pleaded nor argued to the superior court on summary judgment cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.*; *Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985 (2008), review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1017, 199 P.3d 411 (2009). Additionally, questions of fact may not be raised for the first time on appeal. See *Malo v. Anderson*, 76 Wn.2d 1, 4, 454 P.2d 828 (1969). Argument of counsel is not evidence. See *Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 31, 351 P.2d 153, 159 (1960).

On review of summary judgment, an appellate court considers all facts submitted and all reasonable inferences from the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Rublee v. Carrier Corp.*, 192 Wn.2d 190, 199, 428 P.3d 1207 (2018). Summary judgment is proper only when the record demonstrates there is no genuine issue of material fact and the

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'ns Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 877, 288 P.3d 328 (2012). Argument contesting medical causation, raised for the first time on appeal, and even if entertained by this Court, only creates more questions of fact for the jury. See *Wuthrich v. King Cty.*, 185 Wn.2d 19, 28, 366 P.3d 926 (2016).

The failure of the moving party to make a motion to strike an expert declaration filed in opposition to the summary judgment motion waives any claimed deficiencies in the declaration (if existent) for purposes of adjudication of the motion. *Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC*, 176 Wn. App. 694, 728, 309 P.3d 711 (2013) (citing CR 56(e)).

- B. Authorities Cited By Fun-Tastic Do Not Demonstrate That The Decision Conflicts With Other Decisions Of This Court Or With Other Appellate Decisions.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with the authorities consistently cited by Fun-Tastic to the Court of Appeals and this Court.

Fun-Tastic has consistently cited three (3) cases concerning *res ipsa* across the Brief of Respondents, Motion for Reconsideration, and Petition for Review: *Curtis v. Lein*, 169 Wn.2d 884, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010); *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 69 P.3d 324 (2003); and *Robison v. Cascade Hardwoods, Inc.*, 117 Wn. App. 552, 72 P.3d 244 (2003).

² Compare the Table of Authorities in Brief of Respondent, the Table of Authorities in the Petition for Review, and the authorities cited in the Motion for Reconsideration.

As described by this Court, the elements of res ipsa are:

(1) the accident or occurrence that caused the plaintiffs' injury would not ordinarily happen in the absence of negligence, (2) the instrumentality or agency that caused the plaintiffs injury was in the exclusive control of the defendant, and (3) the plaintiff did not contribute to the accident or occurrence.

Curtis, 169 Wn.2d at 889 (internal quotation marks omitted).

As to the issue of whether "the accident or occurrence that caused the plaintiffs' injury would not ordinarily happen in the absence of negligence", this Court explained that:

The first element is satisfied if one of three conditions is present: (1) When the act causing the injury is so palpably negligent that it may be inferred as a matter of law, *i.e.*, leaving foreign objects, sponges, scissors, etc., in the body, or amputation of a wrong member; (2) when the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the result would not be expected without negligence; and (3) when proof by experts in an esoteric field creates an inference that negligence caused the injuries.

Curtis, 169 Wn.2d at 889.

In the present case, the second condition is applicable.

Fun-Tastic contends *res ipsa* imposes upon Brugh a duty to have an expert inspection of the Rainer Rush roller coaster. As to Brugh's burden under the doctrine, this Court in *Curtis* explicitly rejected that *res ipsa* imposes an expert inspection duty on the injured plaintiff, when it said that the plaintiff carries no burden to show that the defects were discoverable.

Curtis, 169 Wn.2d at 891. Under Washington law³, the information that would be discovered, *i.e.* specific proof of negligence, is the "exact[] sort of information that *res ipsa loquitur* is intended to supply by inference." *Id.* at 892. *Res ipsa* concerns a determination by the court of whether the event speaks for itself, and is not reliant upon use of particular pretrial procedures.⁴ *Id.*

In *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 69 P.3d 324 (2003), this Court explained: "[t]he reason for the prerequisite of exclusive control of the offending instrumentality is that the purpose of the rule is to require the

³ Examples from other jurisdictions (discussed at Reply of Appellant pp. 5-10): Frost v. Des Moines Still Coll. of Osteopathy & Surgery, 79 N.W.2d 306, 311 (1956) (holding in burn injury case where plaintiff was under anesthesia at total mercy of doctors that plaintiff was not "forced to use the right" of pretrial discovery, or that pretrial discovery would be adequate in res ipsa case, and holding further that plaintiff need only identify the harming instrumentality to satisfy the diligence requirement of res ipsa); Bone v. Gen. Motors Corp., 322 S.W.2d 916, 922 (Mo. 1959) (rejecting duty of discovery); Warner v. Terminal R. Ass'n of St. Louis, 257 S.W.2d 75, 81 (1953) (explicitly rejecting contention that inspection or pretrial procedures were required, because "res ipsa is part of the law of evidence", discovery procedures "have nothing to do with what facts are essential to state a claim or with what evidence is sufficient to justify the submission of a plaintiff's case[]", and that there is no way to ensure that when evidence is in the purview of the defendant, that discovery and inspection could fully induce the necessary evidence); Menth v. Breeze Corp., 73 A.2d 183, 187 (1950) (stating defendant "insists that the rule is not applicable here because, inter alia, plaintiffs made no attempt to seek further evidence through interrogatories, depositions or pretrial hearings... We see no merit in this attempt to circumvent the application of the rule and therefore hold that plaintiff's failure to use such pretrial procedures in an effort to elicit specific acts of defendant's negligence does not bar the application of the res ipsa loquitur rule if its other requirements are satisfied. A contrary conclusion would tend to undermine the effectiveness of the rule.")

⁴ If, arguendo, it is possible for an expert to medically rule out the blow to the head Brugh suffered on the Rainer Rush as the cause of the subdural hematoma for which she underwent the craniotomy, then Fun-Tastic had both the opportunity and the burden to do so at the trial court.

defendant to produce evidence explanatory of the physical cause of an injury which cannot be explained by the plaintiff."

In adopting the rule that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* is inapplicable only where the evidence completely explains the plaintiff's injury, we have noted that a plaintiff is not bound by the testimony of the defendant or his witnesses. Thus, the plaintiff may be entitled to rely on the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine even if the defendant's testimony, if believed by the jury, would explain how the event causing injury to the plaintiff occurred. ...

Even where the defendant offers weighty, competent and exculpatory evidence in defense, the doctrine may apply. In sum, the plaintiff is not required to eliminate with certainty all other possible causes or inferences in order *for res ipsa loquitur* to apply. ...

It makes little sense to deny an instruction on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur simply because the defendant offers evidence that provides a possible explanation of the event. As noted above, the res ipsa loquitur doctrine allows the plaintiff to establish a prima facie case of negligence when he cannot prove a specific act of negligence because he is not in a situation where he would have knowledge of that specific act. Once the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case, the defendant must then offer an explanation, if he can. If then, after considering such explanation, on the whole case and on all the issues as to negligence, injury and damages, the evidence still preponderates in favor of the plaintiff, plaintiff is entitled to recover; otherwise not.

140 Wn.2d at 440-42 (internal citations omitted).

Robison, also relied upon by Fun-Tastic, is demonstrative of the manner in which *res ipsa* applies to the present case:

[Plaintiff] does not own the property; does not have access to all the cables, lines, circuits or other routes in the power distribution system; and does not know of historical changes that have been made to the electrical system. There is little doubt that [Defendant] is in the best position to explain how [Plaintiff] could suffer severe electrical injuries while operating electrical machinery on [Defendant's] property. But rather than producing any affirmative evidence, [Defendant] moved for summary judgment, challenging [Plaintiff's] ability to pinpoint a source. This is inconsistent with the purpose of the *res ipsa* doctrine[.]

Robison, 117 Wn. App. at 571-72.

Fun-Tastic cited three (3) additional cases both in its appellate motion for reconsideration, and also its Petition to this Court: *Zukowsky*, *ZeBarth*, and *Swanson*.

Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wn.2d 586, 488 P.2d 269 (1971), provides, in pertinent part:

Here, [plaintiff] has shown that she was injured when a helm seat on which she was sitting collapsed. In the general experience of mankind, the collapse of a seat is an event that would not be expected without negligence on someone's part. Plaintiff's evidence showed that defendant was in ownership and control of the boat and had removed and replaced this helm seat several times. This evidence was sufficient to support a legitimate inference that defendant's control extended to the instrumentality causing injury. We find nothing so unreasonable or abnormal in [plaintiff's] use of the seat as to support a claim of contributory negligence. or prevent the inference of defendant's negligence from arising in the first instance. Plaintiffs' evidence as to the manner and circumstances of this event are sufficient to support a reasonable inference that defendant was negligent. Since that inference was not refuted as a matter of law,

plaintiffs were entitled to the benefits of the inference of negligence arising from the circumstances.

Id. at 596-97 (citation omitted).

ZeBarth v. Swedish Hosp. Med. Ctr., 81 Wn.2d 12, 499 P.2d 1 (1972) is a medical malpractice case. Here, only Brugh offered medical causation testimony, and Fun-Tastic waived challenge to it. Moreover, ZeBarth was a different type of res ipsa case: unlike the present case, which concerns whether the roller coaster injury would be expected without negligence in "the general experience and observation of mankind", ZeBarth was a "proof by experts in an esoteric field" case. Id. at 19-20.

Fun-Tastic cites *Swanson v. Brigham*, 18 Wn. App. 647, 571 P.2d 217 (1977), in which a patient admitted to the hospital for treatment of mononucleosis died of asphyxiation. *Id.* at 650. The *Swanson* court found that while the injury was rare, as the injury's cause was not "palpably negligent", like the sponge left in the body; under the facts general experience would not teach that the event would not happen in the absence of negligence; and no "proof by experts in esoteric fields" had been offered. *Id.*

Here, as held by the appellate court, it is outside the general experience that a subdural hematoma requiring life-saving surgery would occur through routine use of a roller coaster, in the absence of negligence. There is no threshold requirement of expert testimony in order for the *res*

ipsa doctrine to apply; expert testimony is expressly only one of three ways in which the first element of *res ipsa* can be established.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with the authorities newly referenced by Fun-Tastic in its Petition, but not previously cited below.

In addition to the above-discussed authorities, Fun-Tastic refers this Court to eleven cases it did not previously cite to the appellate court, either in Brief of Respondent, or on reconsideration. Of them, one (1) concerns *res ipsa* and burden shifting under CR 56, although it is factually and procedurally distinguishable, and therefore inapplicable; six (6) concern issues specific to *res ipsa* in medical malpractice cases; and the final four (4) authorities are not *res ipsa* cases, and are likewise factually and/or procedurally inapplicable, for the reasons described *infra*.

Marshall v. Western Airlines, Inc., 62 Wn. App. 251, 813 P.2d 1269 (1991) concerns evidentiary burden shifting under CR 56 and res ipsa. More specifically, when the Marshall plaintiff invoked res ipsa in the summary judgment context, the Marshall defendant (the airline) responded by submitting expert testimony to rebut the res ipsa inference of negligence, and the Marshall plaintiff was then unable to meet the burden which shifted back to her to demonstrate that either res ipsa applied or there was otherwise a question of fact. Id. at 255, 259-60. Here, as referenced above, Fun-Tastic did not rebut or move to strike Brugh's injury causation or medical

causation evidence, nor did Fun-Tastic submit expert testimony in support of its motion or in opposition to Brugh's evidence, unlike the *Marshall* defendant. Instead, Fun-Tastic asks the Court to disregard Brugh's evidence and to draw inferences against her, which his impermissible under the Rule 56 standard.

Horner v. Northern Pac. Beneficial Ass'n Hospitals, Inc., 62 Wn.2d 351, 359-60, 382 P.2d 518 (1963), is a medical malpractice case. This Court explained that "the case at bar falls within both the second and third situations", referring to "(2) when the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the result would not be expected without negligence; and (3) when proof by experts in an esoteric field creates an inference that negligence caused the injuries." *Id.* at 360. The present case concerns the second situation.

Similarly, in *Douglas v. Bussabarger*, 73 Wn.2d 476, 482, 438 P.2d 829 (1968), also a medical malpractice case, the court found that the *res ipsa* doctrine applied under both the 'second and third situations'. *Id.* at 482-83.

In *Younger v. Webster*, 9 Wn. App. 87, 94, 510 P.2d 1182 (1973), the appellate court reversed a trial court's summary dismissal of a medical malpractice claim, and held that *res ipsa* applied to the medical malpractice

claim, under both the 'second and third situations'. See 9 Wn. App. at 94 (citing *Horner*, *supra*, and *Douglas*, *supra*).

Fun-Tastic cites *Miller v. Kennedy*, 11 Wn. App. 272, 278, 522 P.2d 852 (1974), another medical malpractice case. In that case, the jury was not given a *res ipsa* instruction; on appeal, the plaintiff contended the jury should have been given a *res ipsa* instruction. *Id.* at 276-77. Agreeing, the *Miller* court explained that "Washington law entitled the plaintiff to [a *res ipsa*] instruction".

It cannot be said from the vantage point of an unskilled person that the insertion of a biopsy needle into the calyceal area was so palpably negligent that an inference of negligence follows, nor can it be said that the general experience of most people indicates this would not have happened without negligence.

This leaves only the inquiry whether the third situation as recognized under Washington law was present, to wit, an instruction should be given on *res ipsa loquitur* when medical doctors testify that the injury would not have happened but for some negligent action on the part of the treating physician.

Id. at 278 (citing ZeBarth v. Swedish Hosp., supra, 81 Wn.2d at 19).

Fun-Tastic cites *Tate v. Perry*, 52 Wn. App. 257, 263, 758 P.2d 999 (1988), a medical malpractice case, in which the side effects from a particular diagnostic test experienced by the plaintiff were known, were disclosed to plaintiff, and which do occur in the absence of negligence. *Id.* at 263-64.

Lastly as to medical malpractice cases, Fun-Tastic cites *Reves v. Yakima Health District*, 191 Wn.2d 79, 90, 419 P.3d 819 (2018), in which this Court explained that "The act of prescribing isoniazid is not so 'palpably negligence' as leaving foreign objects in a body or amputating the wrong limb. Nor can a layperson's 'general experience and observation' show that it is negligent. That is why expert testimony is required." *Id*.

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